
 
 
 

Standards and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee 
 
Date: Wednesday, 17 July 2013 
Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Andrew Mossop 
Tel: 0151 691 8501 
e-mail: andrewmossop@wirral.gov.uk  
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
AGENDA 
 
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members of the Committee are asked to consider whether they have 

any disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 2) 
 
 To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the Standards Committee 

held on 18 March, 2013. 
 

3. REVIEW AND UPDATE ON THE COUNCIL'S ETHICAL 
FRAMEWORK (Pages 3 - 92) 

 
4. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



�����������	

������
�

��������	
��������	��
�

��������� � ������������������������������
�
� ������������ � �!""���

���� ��#����
�

$�%������
&�'������
�

��(������ ������������ %����������
$�'����
��'���"��
%�)���*���
�

�
�

�	� 
�
������	���	���	�����������������	���	������������
�
+����������������,����������-������������.��
�
�

��� 
��������
�
���	������
�
&��� ���/������� �,� ���/�����#� �,� �����//������ ���� ��� 	0�+���/"��� ��	�� "��
���,��/����������������������.��
�
�

��� 
�������	�����������������	��������	����
�
&��!����#���������� �,�  �-��'������!���������#�/���� ����������� ���/��������,�
���%���������1��*��#�2���(��������3�)�"��������	�.�
�
��/"����-���� ��,��/��� ���� ��� #���(� ��� ������������ ������� �����/"���� 4�&�
(������������##�������/���/�����-�������(������������/������.��
�
&��!����#��������������������������������-���#�/��������-����/(����������"����
���������������#�������������"���#�������������#��#.�
�
!������������-�������"�������,�������,����%�����������//������������,��/������
-��� ����������� ��������#� -��� ���#"�����#� ����������� �(������ �� %���������
��//�����.�&��!����#������������,��/���/�/"���������������������#�����5����/����
,��� ��� �������� ��� ���� �� %��������� ��//������ ���� ����� ��� ���(�� ,��� -��*�
����������"��������//���������"����/"�����-������������//���������#���(.���
�
��//�����-����/����"����/"�����"���� ����������#����,� 4���(���������������
"���#� �((������� ��� ���� ��//������ ���� ��� ����� ,��� -��*� �,� ��� %���������
��//���������"�������(�����.�4��-���������6(���������������������������/������#�
������������������"��(��/���������/�����������/�/"�����#�������������-�����"��
����((��(������,���/��������������.��

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



�
&����//�������#����������/�������������%�����������//��������������/�������
(�����(�����#����������������,������������������6��1��*��#�2���(.��
�

�3� 
�
����������	������
�
&��!����#�����������,� �-��'������!���������#�/����(���������������������(�����,�
�����/"����4�&�������.�
�
%�/�������������-�������"�������,��/�����#��,��������/������������/(��������
�,��#��#���#���5����/�����/��������������������.�
�
���	������ ����� 
�� �!"� �#!��� �$� ���� !�%&"�'� ���� ($'�� )&��� "*##�"��'�
���+'��+�"�
�
�
�

Page 2



WIRRAL COUNCIL 

STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

17 JULY 2013 

 

SUBJECT: REVIEW AND UPDATE ON THE COUNCIL’S 

ETHICAL FRAMEWORK  

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL 

REPORT OF: MONITORING OFFICER 

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 

HOLDER:  

CLLR ANN MCLACHLAN 

 

KEY DECISION?   NO 
  
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report provides a review of the Council’s Ethical Framework relating to Member 
conduct. 

 
1.2 Council on 16 April 2012 approved:  
 

(i) changes to the Article 9 (Terms of Reference of the Standards Committee 
(and its Panels)) of the Council’s Constitution set out at Appendix 1; 

 
(ii) the Members’ Code of Conduct set out at Appendix 2;  
 
(iii) the Protocol: Arrangements for Investigating and Making Decisions in 

relation to allegations made under the Members’ Code of Conduct set out 
Appendix 3; and 

 
(iv) the Complaint Form to be used in relation to complaints relating to the 

Members’ Code of Conduct set out at Appendix 4. 
 

(“the Standards Regime”) 
 
1.3. The Standards Regime was developed by a cross-party Member Standards Working 

Group.   
 
1.4. On 16 July 2012, Council appointed Professor R S Jones, Mr C Jones, Mr D 

Burgess-Jones and Mr B Cummings as ‘Independent Persons’ for a period of 4 
years to support the effective administration of standards complaints and decisions, 
in accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
1.5. Council on 30 April 2013 amended the Council’s Constitution which included 

changes to the terms of the reference of this Committee. The revised terms of 
reference are attached at Appendix 5 to this report. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

2.1 The Localism Bill was published on 13 December 2010 and received Royal Assent on 
15 November 2011. In summary, the Localism Act 2011 enables greater devolution 
power and freedoms to Councils and neighbourhoods, establishes greater rights for 
communities, changes the planning system, and gives communities control over 
housing decisions. The reform brought about by the 2011 Act covers four broad areas: 

 
• Strengthening local democracy; 
• Community empowerment; 
• Reform of the planning system; and 
• Social housing reform. 

 
2.2 When the Localism Bill was being debated, Government was of the opinion that the 

arrangements concerning standards matters, consisting of a centrally prescribed 
model code of conduct, standards committees with the power to suspend a Council 
Member and regulated by a central quango, was inconsistent with the principles of 
localism agenda and that the arrangements existing at the time could be used as a 
vehicle for vexatious or politically motivated complaints. 

 
2.3 On the 15 November 2011, the Localism Bill received Royal Assent and became the 

Localism Act 2011 (“the Localism Act”). The relevant provisions relating to standards 
matters are set out in Chapter 7 and Schedule 4 of the Localism Act.  

 
2.4 Standards for England was abolished on 31 March 2012. The ‘old’ standards regime 

remained in force until 30 June 2012. The current Standards Regime came into effect 
from 1 July 2012.  

 
2.5 Appendix 6 is an Explanatory Note detailing the key implications of the Localism Act 

2011 on the Standards Regime. 
 

Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee (Appendix 5) 
 

2.6 Under the Standards Regime, the Council in essence retains its ‘Standards 
Committee’. The Committee has two sub-committees: a ‘Standards Panel’ and a 
‘Standards Appeal Panel’. 

 
2.7 The Standards Committee must be politically balanced (unless a ‘nem con vote’ is 

taken).  
 
2.8 Under the Localism Act 2012, the ‘Independent Member’ was replaced by the 

‘Independent Person’. The Council must appoint at least one ‘Independent Person’. 
The Council agreed to co-opt all 4 Independent Persons onto the Committee (with no 
voting rights).  

 
2.9 There is an obligation under the Act, which imposes a positive obligation to seek the 

views of the ‘Independent Person’ before a decision is made in relation to a complaint 
that is being investigated. The views of the ‘Independent Person’ may also be sought 
where a complaint is not being investigated but relates to a Member’s behaviour. The 
new arrangements, as detailed in the Protocol, addresses this issue. 

 

Page 4



2.10 With regards the Panels, they will consist of three Members (one member from each 
political groups) and will be made up of Members of the Standards and Constitution 
Oversight Committee unless other Members are nominated by party spokespersons to 
sit on the Panels. Where such a nomination is made the Members nominated will only 
be allowed to sit on the Panels providing they have undertaken all requisite ‘standards’ 
training. The respective roles of the Panels are explained in more detail below.  

 
New Arrangements (Appendix 3) 

2.11 The full details of the arrangements for dealing with investigating and making 
decisions in relation to standards complaints are set out in the “Protocol: 
Arrangements for Investigating and Making Decisions in relation to allegations made 
under the Members’ Code of Conduct” (set out at Appendix 3). The Protocol does not 
require Council approval; however it will be approved and reviewed periodically by this 
Committee.   

 
2.12 A summary of the key features of the new arrangements are set out below: 
 

a. Any action/steps taken, discretion exercised and/or decisions made pursuant 
to the Protocol, must promote the following: 

 
  a. Fairness to all parties and in proceedings; 
  b. Accountability; 
  c. Transparency of decision making; 
  d. Efficiency; and 

e. Value for money.   
 
b.  Notification of a Complaint 
  

Where a valid complaint has been received: 
 

The Member against whom a complaint is made (‘Subject Member’) will be 
promptly provided details of the complainant and the complaint (unless there 
is good reason why such information should be withheld). 

 
c.  Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation 
 

Monitoring Officer will assess and evaluate every complaint to determine 
whether it: 

 
(i)  can be dealt with by local resolution; 

 
If the complaint is considered suitable for local resolution then this 
course of action will be pursued. 
 

(ii) is frivolous and/or vexatious;  
 

If this is the view of the Monitoring Officer, the complaint will not be 
progressed. 

 
(iii) can be dealt with by adopting another approach that is considered 

more effective and/or efficient; 

Page 5



 
This enables alternative options to be considered and pursued, thereby 
enabling the new regime to be adaptable to change and flexible so as 
to allow ‘common sense’ to prevail. 

 
(iv) is appropriate to be referred for investigation. 
 

This option ensures that more serious matters are dealt with 
appropriately. 

 
The Monitoring Officer when undertaking the assessment and evaluation of a 
complaint must take into account of (i) the views of the Independent Person; 
(ii) the public interest, (iii) the comments of all three Political Group 
Leaders;(iii) any guidance provided by Standards Committee; and (iv) 
promote (a) above. 

 
d. Obligation to Co-operate with Investigations 
 

Where an investigation is undertaken, the Subject Member will be required to 
co-operate with the investigation and make him/herself available for interview 
within 21 days of the investigator’s request for interview. Where there is an 
unjustifiable delay caused by the Subject Member, the Monitoring Officer can 
direct that the investigation progresses without any input from the Subject 
Member.  

 
e. No breach found by Investigator 
 

Where the Investigator concludes that the Members’ Code of Conduct has not 
been breached, no further action will be taken in relation to the complaint. 
Unless otherwise requested by Subject Member, the Monitoring Officer shall 
arrange for a Council media statement to be published on the Council’s 
website in relation to the complaint and the findings/outcome of the 
investigation. 

 
a. Standards Panel 
 

Where the Investigator has concluded that there has been a breach of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct, the matter will be considered by the Standards 
Panel within 20 working days. The Panel may decide to agree with the 
findings and conclusions of the Investigator; or reach an alternative decision 
(such as decide there has been no breach and decide that no further action 
be taken).  

 
All relevant parties shall be entitled to attend the meeting of the Standards 
Panel. The Panel will afford all relevant parties the opportunity to make 
representations in support of their respective positions. Whilst the parties will 
not be entitled to cross-examine each other, they will be entitled to challenge 
and rebut any evidence adduced or representations made by the other. (This 
applies equally to the Standards Appeal Panel). 

 
 

Page 6



g.  Appeal Rights 
 

If either the Complainant or Subject Member(s) is dissatisfied with the 
decision of the Standards Panel, he/she may seek permission to appeal to 
the Standards Appeal Panel against the decision. Any request seeking 
permission to appeal must be made to the Monitoring Officer in writing within 
21 days of receipt of the Standards Panel decision notice.   

 
A request seeking permission to appeal will only be valid and accepted 
providing:  

 
(i) it confirms the procedural, legal and/or evidential issues relied upon in 

support of the request; and 
 
(ii) the Monitoring Officer is satisfied, having considered the views of the 

Independent Person, that (a) significant and/or important procedural, 
legal and/or material evidential issue has been raised; and/or (b) it is 
considered reasonable and equitable in the circumstances that the 
request for appeal be permitted. 

 
h. Standards Appeal Panel 

 
The Standards Appeal Panel will consider, within 20 working days, any 
appeal that is allowed by the Monitoring Officer. The Panel may decide to 
agree with the findings and conclusions of the Investigator; or reach an 
alternative decision. 

 
There is no further right of appeal in relation to a standards complaint. 

 
i. Confidentiality 

 
The Subject Member will be provided with the name of the complainant and a 
summary of the complaint promptly unless the Monitoring Officer believes to 
do so would: 

 
(i) put the complainant at risk of bullying, harassment or intimidation; 
 
(ii) put other witnesses at risk of bullying, harassment or intimidation; 
 
(iii) prejudice any investigation; 
 
(iv) prejudice any other action from being taken;  
 
(v) not be in the public interest; and/or 
 
(vi) not be consistent with guidance provided by the Standards Committee 

or Secretary of State. 
 

or, a request for confidentiality has been made by the complainant and the 
Monitoring Officer determines that the request should be approved.     

 

Page 7



 Unless otherwise permitted under the Protocol or required by legislation, a 
Standards Complaint (and all associated information, documents, information) 
shall not be disclosed in the public domain until such time that the Monitoring 
Officer, or Standards Committee, or the Standards Panel or the Standards 
Review Panel, consider it appropriate (if at all) to disclose them in the public 
domain.  

 
 This approach will help ensure that standards complaints can be dealt with fairly, 

promptly and effectively; and without any potential investigation or Panel hearing 
being undermined or prejudiced. 

 
 The Council’s Access to Information Rules shall apply to meetings of the 

Standards Panel and Standards Appeal Panel. 
 
 Sanctions 
2.13 Under the Act, where a Member or Co-opted Member of the Council has been found 

to have breached the Members’ Code of Conduct (whether or not the finding is made 
following an investigation), the Council may have regard to the failure in deciding (a) 
whether to take action in relation to the Member or Co-opted Member, and (b) what 
action to take. 

 
2.14 The 2011 Act does not prescribe the range of ‘actions’ that the Council can take; but 

does envisage that some action can be taken against a Member or Co-opted Member 
who fails to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct.  

 
2.15 It was recognised by the cross-party Members Standards Working Group that in the 

absence of the range of sanctions available under the previous regime, it was 
imperative that all Members, particularly senior political figures within the respective 
political groups, understood their obligations to lead, support and actively promote 
high standards of conduct.    

 
2.16 Accordingly, the following sanctions were defined and made available to either the 

Standards Panel or Standards Appeal Panel where they determined that the 
Members’ Code of Conduct has been breached: 

 
(i) instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning letter to the 

Member reminding him/her of the need to comply with the Members’ 
Code of Conduct; and/or 

 
(ii) require the Member(s) to apologise to the complainant (whether 

verbally or in writing) for breaching the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
Should the Member in question fail or refuse to do so promptly, the 
Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the Member’s Political Group 
Leader*; and/or 

 
(iii) report the Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the Standards 

Committee for reference/consideration; and/or 
 

(iv) recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that disciplinary 
action should be taken against the Member in question and/or that 

Page 8



he/she be removed from all (or some) outside bodies to which the 
Member has been appointed; and/or 

 
(v) instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the Member in 

question who shall be required to attend. Should the Member fail to 
attend the training arranged, the Monitoring Officer shall report this fact 
to the Member’s Political Group Leader*. 

 
* In the event that the Member in question is the Political Group Leader, the recommendation shall 
be referred to the relevant Deputy Political Group Leader; in the event that the Members in question 
are both the Political Group Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the recommendation shall 
be referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group Official/Spokesperson.  
 
2.17 The timescales within which actions need to be taken are detailed with the Protocol. 
 

Dispensations 
2.18 All requests for dispensations seeking to relieve a Member or Co-opted Member from 

either (a) participating, or participating further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting, or (b) participating in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the 
meeting, must be made to the Monitoring Officer who shall refer all such requests to 
the Standards Committee for determination. The remit of the Standards Committee, 
which is detailed in the draft Terms of Reference, addresses this issue. 

 
Current Position 
 
2.19 The new Standards Regime has now been in place for a little over 12 months. It would 

seem an opportune time for this Committee to review the arrangements and consider 
whether any amendments should be made or alternative arrangements considered 
given the Council’s statutory duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 
amongst Members.  

 
2.20 By way of summary, five complaints have been received under the new Standards 

Regime (i.e. since 1 July 2012) of which there remains two ‘live’ matters. A summary 
of the complaints is attached at Appendix 8 to this report. 

 
2.21 Committee is asked to consider whether a cross-party Standards Working Party 

should again be established to undertake the review of the Standards Regime and 
report back any recommendations to this Committee for consideration. Proposed 
Terms of Reference of the Working Group are set out at Appendix 7 to this report for 
the Committee consideration. 

 
Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority Request 

 
2.22 A request has been received from the Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority 

(“MWDA”) that the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct be amended to include a 
requirement that members appointed to outside bodies (such as the MWDA) be 
required to comply with any relevant Codes of Conduct of those outside bodies. 
Details of the resolution passed by the MWDA, its’ Code of Conduct and procedure for 
handling complaints made under their Code is attached at Appendix 9.  

 

Page 9



2.23 The MWDA does fall within the definition of a ‘relevant authority’ under the Localism 
Act 2011 and therefore does not have the same legal duties and responsibilities as the 
Council.  

 
2.24 The Committee can of course decide whether to recommend to Council that the 

Members’ Code of Conduct be amended to require Members who are appointed to 
outside bodies to comply with any relevant Codes of Conduct of those outside bodies 
(and be subject to the applicable arrangements/procedures dealing with any 
complaints made). Alternatively, it may be an issue that the Working Group is asked to 
consider the request by MWDA (assuming the Committee agrees to establish the 
Working Group). 

 
3.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

3.1 The Council is required to comply with the provisions of the Act with regards the 
arrangements for dealing with standards matters. Should it fail to do so, the Council 
exposes itself to risk of challenge and reputational harm. 

 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

4.1 The Working Group considered and debated various issues and options with regards 
the arrangements for dealing with standards matters. A review of the current 
Standards Regime provides a further opportunity for Members to consider 
revised/alternative arrangements. 

 
5.0 CONSULTATION  

5.1 The consultation with Members should be undertaken in relation to any 
revisions/alternative arrangements (if applicable). 

 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 

6.1 There are no such implications arising. 
 

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS  

7.1 The Standards Regime is more effective and efficient in dealing with standards 
complaints/matters. However, the resource implications are (and have always been) 
predominantly affected and determined by the conduct and behaviour of Members. 

 
8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

8.1 The legal implications have been set out in the report. 
 
9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality? 
 
 (a) No – not applicable 
 
10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS  

10.1  There are no such implications arising. 
 

Page 10



11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There are no such implications arising. 
 
12.0 RECOMMENDATION/S 

12.1 That the Committee: 
 

a. Notes this report; 
 
b. Determines whether to establish a cross-party Member Working Group 

in accordance with the Terms of Reference set out at Appendix 7 to 
review the current Standards Regime and report back its 
recommendation to this Committee for consideration. 

 
c. Subject to b. above, determine whether Council be recommended to 

amend the Members’ Code of Conduct to include an obligation that 
Members who are appointed to an outside body be required to comply 
with any relevant Code of Conduct of that outside body (and be subject 
to the body’s arrangements/procedures dealing with any complaints 
made under the Code). 

 
13.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

13.1 The Council is required to comply with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 and 
ensure appropriate arrangements are in place to promote and maintain high standards 
of conduct by Members. 

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Surjit Tour 
  Head of Legal & Member Services 
  and Monitoring Officer 
  Telephone:  0151 691 8569 
  Email:   surjittour@wirral.gov.uk  
 
 
APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 - Terms of Reference of the Standards Committee and its Panels (16 April 
2012) 

 
Appendix 2 - Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
Appendix 3 - Protocol: Arrangements for Investigating and Making Decisions in  

relation to allegations made under the Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
Appendix 4 – Complaint Form 
 
Appendix 5 - Terms of Reference of the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee 
 
Appendix 6 – Explanatory Note: Localism Act and the Standards Regime 
 

Page 11



Appendix 7 – Proposed Terms of Reference for the Cross-party Standards Committee  
  Working Group  

 
Appendix 8 – Summary of Standards Complaints between 1 July 2012 and 9 July 2013 
 
Appendix 9 – Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority arrangements for Member conduct. 
 
 
REFERENCE MATERIAL 

 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

  

 

Page 12



  

Appendix 1 

Article 9 - The Standards Committee 
 
 
9.1  Standards Committee 
 

The Council meeting will establish a Standards Committee. 
 
9.2  Composition 
 

(a)  Membership  
The Standards Committee will be composed of: 

 
• nine Members, not more than one of whom is a member of the 

Executive (other than the Leader) and 
 

• three persons who are not Members or officers of the Council 
(independent persons). 

 
(b)  Independent persons 

Independent members will not be entitled to vote at meetings. 
 

(c)  Chairing the Committee 
The committee chairperson shall be determined by the Standards 
Committee at its first meeting in the Municipal Year. 

 
9.3  Role and Function 
 

The Standards Committee will:- 
 

(a)  promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members, Co-
Opted Members and church and parent governor representatives; 

 
(b)  to advise and recommend to Council the adoption, revision or 

replacement of the Code(s)_of Conduct for Members, Co-Opted 
Members and Officers.  

 
(c)  assist the Members and Co-Opted Members and church and parent 

governor representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
(d)  monitor and review the complaints made under the Members Code of 

Conduct; including the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
(e)  advise, train or arrange to train Members, Co-Opted Members and 

church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; 

 
(f)  establish, amend or revise arrangements under which allegations that 

an elected or co-opted Member of the Council has failed, or may have 
failed, to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members can 
be investigated (which shall include but not limited to developing and 
adopting procedures and protocols and authorising the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer to make such changes to the arrangements as are 

Page 13



  

considered necessary for the effective and timely investigation of 
allegations. 

 
(g)  establish, amend or revise arrangements under which decisions on 

allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the Council has 
failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct can be made (which shall include but not limited to developing 
and adopting procedures and protocols and authorising the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer to make such changes to the arrangements as are 
considered necessary for effective and timely decision making. 

 
(h)  support the Monitoring Officer in the exercise of that Officer’s ethical 

standards functions, in particular the duty to establish and maintain 
registers of interests for the Council. 

 
(j)  in relation to Members or Co-Opted Members or church and/or parent 

governor representatives with pecuniary interests, putting in place 
arrangements to grant dispensations, in appropriate cases, from the 
restrictions on speaking and/or voting.  

 
(j)  to exercise all other functions of the Council in relation to ethical 

standards, in particular those under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
(k)  monitoring and reviewing as necessary the operation of whistle-blowing 

procedures; 
 
(l)  considering reports arising from external inspections, audit 

investigations, Ombudsman investigations where maladministration is 
found, legal challenges and other sources which cast doubt on the 
honesty or integrity of the Council or its Members; 

 
(m)  to consider and make recommendations on such other matters as the 

Committee itself thinks appropriate or which are referred to it by Council, 
which further the aim of promoting and maintaining the highest 
standards of conduct within the Council; 

 
(n)  approve the payment of compensation involving sums in excess of 

£5,000 (or less, if considered appropriate) to settle complaints of 
maladministration. 

 
(o)  establishing such sub-committees and/or panel as are required to 

discharge its role and the functions as set out in these Terms of 
Reference. 

 
10.0 Establishment of Panels 
 

(a)  The Standards Committee will establish a: 
 

(i) Standards Panel; and a 
 
(ii) Standards Appeals Panel 

 
 
 

Page 14



  

 
Terms of Reference of the Standards Panel   

 
1. The Standards Panel will: 
  

(a) Consider only those allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the 
Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members that are specified in the arrangements established 
under paragraph 9.3(f) above. 

 
(b) Consider and take into account the views of at least one independent 

person before making a decision on an allegation (falling within its remit) 
that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been breached. 

 
(b) The Standards Panel after consideration of a complaint may (pursuant to 

paragraph 9.3(g) above):- 
 

(i) ask for additional information on the allegation before reaching a 
decision; 

 
(ii) determine that no action should be taken in respect of the 

allegation(s) made; 
 
(iii) determine that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been proved 

to have been breached;   
 
(c) Where the Standards Panel determines that the Members’ Code of Conduct 

has been breached, it may: 
 
(i) instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning letter to 

the Member reminding him/her of the need to comply with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; and/or 

 
(ii) require the Member(s) to apologise to the complainant (whether 

verbally or in writing) for breaching the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. Should the Member in question fail or refuse to do so 
promptly, the Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the 
Member’s Political Group Leader*; and/or 

 
(iii) report the Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the Standards 

Committee for reference/consideration; and/or 
 

(iv) recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that 
disciplinary action should be taken against the Member in 
question and/or that he/she be removed from all (or some) 
outside bodies to which the Member has been appointed; and/or 

 
(v) instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the Member 

in question who shall be required to attend. Should the Member 
fail to attend the training arranged, the Monitoring Officer shall 
report this fact to the Member’s Political Group Leader*. 

 
* In the event that the Member in question is the Political Group Leader, the recommendation 
shall be referred to the relevant Deputy Political Group Leader; in the event that the Members 

Page 15



  

in question are both the Political Group Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the 
recommendation shall be referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group 
Official/Spokesperson.  
 

(d) Where the Standards Panel determines that the Members’ Code of 
Conduct has NOT been breached, it may: 

 
(i) recommend, subject to the agreement of the Member against 

whom the allegation(s) has been made, that a Council media 
statement be issued upon the Council’s website detailing the 
nature and outcome of the investigation into the allegations made 
and the decision of the Panel. 

 
(ii) subject to the agreement of the Member against whom the 

allegation(s) has been made, report the Panel’s decision to a 
public meeting of the Standards Committee; 

 
(e) The Standards Panel shall also consider under Sections 1 and 2 of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989: - 
 

(a)  any application received from any officer of the Council for 
exemption from political restriction in respect of the post held by 
that officer and may direct the Council that the post shall not be 
considered to be a politically restricted post and that the post be 
removed from the list maintained by the Council under Section 
2(2) of that Act; and  

 
b) upon the application of any person or otherwise, consider whether 

a post should be included in the list maintained by the Council 
under Section 2(2) of the 1989 Act, and may direct the Council to 
include a post in that list. 

 
6. Composition 
 

The Standards Panel shall comprise of 3 Members (one Member from each of 
the three main political parties) who shall be members of the Council’s 
Standards Committee (unless an Alternate Member is nominated (see below)). 
 
The spokesperson for each political group may nominate an ‘Alternate Member’ 
from his/her political group to sit on a Standards Panel, providing that the 
Member nominated has undertaken the requisite training on the Members’ 
Code of Conduct (and any other training required by the Standards 
Committee). 
 
No Member shall sit on the Standards Panel where he/she has a conflict of 
interest. 

 
7. Chairperson 

 
The Chairperson shall be appointed by the Standards Panel at each meeting.  

 
Where the Standards Panel is considering an allegation of a breach of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct, the Chairperson shall not be a Member of the 

Page 16



  

same political party of the Member against whom the allegation(s) have been 
made.  

 
8. Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Panel shall be the 3 Members that 
make up its composition.   
 

9.  Frequency of Meetings - The Standards Panel will only meet when required to 
undertake its role and discharge its functions as set out in these Terms of 
Reference. 

 
10. Access to Information – Where the Standards Panel is considering 

allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the Council has failed, or 
may have failed, to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members 
under 1 (a) above, the matter shall be exempt from disclosure under paragraph 
7C of the Council Access to Information Procedure Rules unless the Standards 
Panel at its meeting considers that the public interest in lifting the exemption 
outweighs maintaining the continued application of the exemption. 

 
 
 
B. Terms of Reference of the Standards Appeal Panel 
 
1. Where a complainant or Member or Co-opted Member is dissatisfied with the 

determination of a complaint by the Standards Panel, the Standards Appeal 
Panel will convene to re-consider the complaint providing that: 

 
a. A request for permission to appeal is first made in writing, within 14 

days of receipt of the Standards Panel’s Decision Notice, to the 
Monitoring Officer which details the procedural, legal and/or 
evidential issues relied upon in support of the request for permission; 
and 

 
b. The Monitoring Officer being satisfied, having considered the views 

of the independent person, that (i) the request for permission raises 
valid procedural, legal and/or evidential issues and matters not 
previously considered by the Standards Panel, and/or that (ii) it is 
reasonable and equitable in all the circumstances of the case that 
permission to appeal be granted. 

 
2. Where the Standards Appeal Panel has been convened pursuant to paragraph 

1 above, the Standards Appeal Panel shall: 
 

i. Consider the complaint/allegations that an elected or co-opted 
Member of the Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with 
the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
ii. Consider and take into account the views of at least one independent 

person before making a decision on an allegation (falling within its 
remit) that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been breached. 

 
3. (a) The Standards Appeal Panel after consideration of a complaint may 

(pursuant to paragraph 9.3(g) above:- 
 

Page 17



  

(i) ask for additional information on the allegation before reaching a 
decision; 

 
(ii) determine that no action should be taken in respect of the 

allegation(s) made; 
 
(iv) determine that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been proved 

to have been breached;   
 
(b) Where the Standards Appeal Panel determines that the Members’ Code of 

Conduct has been breached, it may: 
 

(i) instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning letter to 
the Member reminding him/her of the need to comply with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; and/or 

 
(ii) require the Member(s) to apologise to the complainant (whether 

verbally or in writing) for breaching the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. Should the Member in question fail or refuse to do so 
promptly, the Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the 
Member’s Political Group Leader*; and/or 

 
(iii) report the Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the Standards 

Committee for reference/consideration; and/or 
 

(iv) recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that 
disciplinary action should be taken against the Member in 
question and/or that he/she be removed from all (or some) 
outside bodies to which the Member has been appointed; and/or 

 
(v) instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the Member 

in question who shall be required to attend. Should the Member 
fail to attend the training arranged, the Monitoring Officer shall 
report this fact to the Member’s Political Group Leader*. 

 
* In the event that the Member in question is the Political Group Leader, the recommendation 
shall be referred to the relevant Deputy Political Group Leader; in the event that the Members 
in question are both the Political Group Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the 
recommendation shall be referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group 
Official/Spokesperson.  
 

(c) Where the Standards Appeal Panel determines that the Members’ Code of 
Conduct has NOT been breached, it may: 

 
(iii) recommend, subject to the agreement of the Member against 

whom the allegation(s) has been made, a Council press release 
be issued detailing the nature and outcome of the investigation 
into the allegations and the decision of the Panel. 

 
(iv) subject to the agreement of the Member against whom the 

allegation(s) has been made, report the Panel’s decision to a 
public meeting of the Council and/or the Standards Committee; 

 
 

Page 18



  

4. Composition   
 
The Standards Appeal Panel shall comprise of 3 Members (one Member from 
each of the three main political parties) who shall be members of the Council’s 
Standards Committee (unless an Alternate Member is nominated (see below)). 
 
The spokesperson for each political group may nominate an ‘Alternate Member’ 
from his/her political group to sit on a Standards Appeal Panel, providing that 
the Member nominated has undertaken the requisite training on the Members’ 
Code of Conduct (and any other training required by the Standards 
Committee). 
 
No Member shall sit on (or otherwise attend, engage or interfere with) the 
Standards Appeal Panel where he/she has a conflict of interest.  
 

5. Chairperson – The Chairperson shall be appointed by the Standards Appeal 
Panel at each meeting. Where the Standards Appeal Panel is considering an 
allegation of a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Chairperson shall 
not be a member of the same political party of the Member against whom the 
allegation(s) have been made.  
 

7. Quorum  
The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Panel shall be the 3 Members that 
make up its composition.   

 
9.  Frequency of Meetings - The Standards Appeal Panel will only meet when 

required to undertake its role and discharge its functions as set out in these 
Terms of Reference. 

 
10. Access to Information – Where the Standards Appeal Panel is considering 

allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the Council has failed, or 
may have failed, to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members 
under 1 (a) above, the matter shall be exempt from disclosure under paragraph 
7C of the Council Access to Information Procedure Rules unless the Standards 
Panel at its meeting considers that the public interest in lifting the exemption 
outweighs maintaining the continued application of the exemption.. 
 

  
 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



 1 

Appendix 4 

 
 
 

Complaint Form 
 

Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
 

Title:       

First name:       

Last name:       
 
 

Address:       
 

Daytime telephone:       

Evening telephone:       

Mobile telephone:       

Email address:       
 
 

Date of Complaint       
 

Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless necessary or to 
deal with your complaint.  
 
However, it will be necessary (unless otherwise determined by the Monitoring Officer) to 
inform the following people that you have made this complaint: 

 
§ the Member(s) you are complaining about; 
§ the Monitoring Officer authorised representatives/advisors; and if necessary 
§ any investigator appointed; and/or 
§ witnesses involved in the investigation. 

 
Please note that (unless otherwise determined by the Monitoring Officer) your name and 
a summary of your complaint (or in some cases where justified a full copy of your 
complaint) will be provided to those persons mentioned above.  
 
If you have serious concerns about your name and a summary (or full copy of your 
complaint), or any details of your complaint being disclosed, please complete section 5 
of this form.  

Page 43



 2 

1. Please tell us which statement best describes you: 
 

  Member of the Public 

  Elected or Co-Opted Member of an authority 

  Member of Parliament 

  Local Authority Monitoring Officer 

  Other Council Officer or Council employee  

  Other (     ) 
 

2. Equality monitoring questions - please fill in the monitoring from attached to this 
complaint form. 

 
Making your complaint 
 
On receipt of your complaint the Monitoring Officer will be considered in 
accordance wit the Council’s Protocol: Arrangements for Investigating and 
Making Decisions in relation to allegation made under the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Please return your completed complaint form to the Council’s Monitoring Officer, 
by post or email, at the address shown at section 11 of this form. 
 

3. Please provide us with the name of the Member(s) you believe have breached 
the Members’ Code of Conduct and the name of their authority: 

 
Title First name Last name Council or authority name 

                        

                        

                        

                        
 

4. Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the Member(s) has 
done that you believe amounts to a breach the Members’ Code of Conduct.  

 
If you are complaining about more than one Member you should clearly explain 
what each individual Member has done that you believe amounts to a breach of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
It is important that you provide all the information you wish to have taken into 
account by the Monitoring Officer when he/she undertakes his/her Preliminary 
Assessment and Evaluation of your complaint. For example: 
 

§ You should be specific, wherever possible, about exactly what you are 
alleging the Member(s) said or did. For instance, instead of writing that the 
Member insulted you, you should state what was actually said. 

Page 44



 3 

 
§ You should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever possible. If 
you cannot provide exact dates it is important to give a general timeframe.  

 
§ You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged 
conduct and provide their names and contact details if possible. 

 
§ You should provide any relevant background information or other relevant 
documentary evidence to support your allegation. 

 
§ If the conduct alleged took place over three months before submitting this 
complaint please explain why the complaint was not made sooner. 

 
DETAILS OF YOUR COMPLAINT: 
(Please note that the box will automatically expand as required) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

5.  Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is 
kept confidential 

 
In the interests of fairness and in compliance with the rules of natural justice, we 
believe a Member(s) who is complained about has a right to know who has made 
the complaint and the substance of the allegation(s) made against him/her.  We 
are, therefore, unlikely to withhold your personal details or the details of your 
complaint unless you have good reasons to believe that you have justifiable 
grounds, for example: 

 
§ to believe you may be victimised or harassed by the Member(s) against 
whom you are submitting a written complaint (or by a person associated with 
the same);  

 
§ the matter is the subject of an investigation by another public body e.g. the 
Police and that investigation may be prejudiced as a result of disclosure; or 
 

§ you believe that you may receive less favourable treatment from the Council 
because of the seniority of the Member(s) against whom you are making the 
complaint. 

 
Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of 
complaint details will not automatically be granted. The Monitoring Officer will 
consider the request alongside the substance of your complaint, and will then 
contact you with the decision. If your request for confidentiality is not granted, you 
will usually be afforded the opportunity of withdrawing your complaint.  
 

Page 45



 4 

However, it is important to understand that in certain exceptional circumstances 
where the matter complained about is serious, the Monitoring Officer can proceed 
with an investigation or other action and disclose your name even if you have 
expressly asked that it remains confidential.  

 
 

Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold 
your name and/or the details of your complaint: 
(Please note that the box will automatically expand as required) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
6. Remedy Sought 
 

Please indicate the remedy or remedies you are looking for or hoping to achieve 
by submitting this complaint. 

 
Please provide details of the remedy sought: 
 (Please note that the box will automatically expand as required) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

7. Additional Help 
 

Complaints must be submitted in writing. This includes fax and electronic 
submissions. However, in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010, 
reasonable adjustments will be made to assist you, should you have a disability 
that prevents you from making your complaint in writing.  
 
We can also help if English is not your first language.  
 
If you need any support in completing this form, please contact the Monitoring 
Officer as soon as possible. 

 
8. Process from here 

 
Once a valid complaint relating to an alleged breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct has been received by the Monitoring Officer, it will be assessed and 

Page 46



 5 

evaluated by the Monitoring Officer in accordance with the Council’s Protocol: 
Arrangements for Investigating and Making Decisions in relation to allegation 
made under the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
The Monitoring Officer may seek clarification or further information from you. 
 

  The Monitoring Officer will decide whether the complaint: 
 

(i) should be dealt with by local resolution; 
 

(ii) is frivolous and/or vexatious;  
 

(iii) can be dealt with by adopting another approach that is considered 
more effective and/or efficient; or 

 
(iv) is appropriate to be referred for investigation. 

 
You will be informed of the Monitoring Officer’s decision in writing and any 
applicable next steps in the process.  

 
(Please note that the Council’s Protocol: Arrangements for Investigating and 
Making Decisions in relation to allegation made under the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, is available on the Council’s website and details the process and 
procedures for dealing with complaints). 

 
10. Contact Details: 
 

Surjit Tour 
Monitoring Officer  

 
Wirral Council 
Town Hall  
Brighton Street 
Wallasey 
Wirral 
CH44 8ED 
 
Tel:  0151 691 8498 
Fax: 0151 691 8482 
E-mail: surjittour@wirral.gov.uk    

 

Page 47



 6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improving Access to Services Monitoring Form 

Why is the council asking you for information? 
 
We want to ensure that all Wirral residents can access all of our services, and to ensure 
you all receive an appropriate and relevant service dependent upon your needs. 
 
We need your help in order for us to do that.   
 
We are asking you to provide us with vital personal information, which will be 
anonymous and cannot be attached to your name or address.  We need this information 
to build a picture of who uses our services.  This will also help us to identify which local 
communities are not accessing our services and why. 
 
The information you provide is voluntary, you do not have to complete some or all of the 
questions. 
 
However, the more information you provide the more we can ensure continuous 
improvements to our services. 

2. Your Gender  
 
[  ]  Male 
[  ]  Female 
(please tick one box) 
 
YES / NO  Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at 
birth? (please delete as appropriate)  

3. Your Age 
 
Please state your date of birth 

     1. Which council service are you enquiring about? 

Page 48



 7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Your Ethnicity 
 
       (Please tick one box or state your ethnicity) 
 
 
A. White 
 
[  ] English 
[  ] Other British 
[  ] Irish 
[                           ] Any other White background (please state)  
 

 
   

B. Mixed  
 
[  ] White & Black Caribbean 
[  ] White & Black African 
[  ] White & Asian 
[                             ] Any other Mixed background (please state) 
 
 
C. Asian or Asian British 
 
[  ] Indian 
[  ] Pakistani 
[  ] Bangladeshi 
[  ] Chinese 
[                             ] Any other Asian background (please state)   
 
 
D. Black or Black British 
 
[  ] Caribbean 
[  ] African 
[                            ] Any other Black background (please state) 
 
 
E. Other Ethnic Group 
 
[  ] Arab 
[  ] Gypsy / Romany / Irish Traveller 
[                            ] Any other Ethnic Group (please state) 

 
 
 

Page 49



 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thank you very much for completing this form 

5. Your Disability 
 
Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? 
 
YES / NO    (please delete as appropriate) 

6. Your Sexual Orientation 
 
[  ]  Heterosexual 
[  ]  Lesbian or Gay 
[  ]  Bisexual 
 
(please tick one box) 

7. Your Religion or Belief 
 
  What is your religion? 
 
   [  ] None 
   [  ] Christian (including Church of England, Catholic, 
    Protestant & all other Christian denominations) 
   [  ] Buddhist 
   [  ] Hindu 
   [  ] Jewish 
   [  ] Muslim 
   [  ] Sikh 
   [        ] Any other religion (please state) 
 
 
   What is your belief? 
 
   [  ] Humanist 
   [  ] Atheist 
   [  ] Agnostic 
   [  ] Pagan 
   [                                    ] Any other belief (please state) 
 
 

Page 50



Appendix 5 

Article 9 - The Standards and 
Constitutional Oversight Committee 

 
 
9.1  Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee 
 

The Council meeting will establish a Standards and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee, to be known as the Standard and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee. 

 
9.2  Composition 
 

(a)  Membership  
The Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee will be 
composed of: 

 
• nine Members, not more than one of whom is a member of the 
Executive (other than the Leader) and 

 
• four persons who are not Members or officers of the Council 
(independent persons). 

 
(b)  Independent persons 

Independent members will not be entitled to vote at meetings. 
 

(c)  Chairing the Committee 
The committee chairperson shall be determined by the 
Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee at its first 
meeting in the Municipal Year. 

 
9.3  Role and Function 
 

The Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee will:- 
 

(a)  promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members, 
Co-Opted Members and church and parent governor 
representatives; 

 
(b)  to advise and recommend to Council the adoption, revision or 

replacement of the Code(s)_of Conduct for Members, Co-Opted 
Members and Officers.  

 
(c)  assist the Members and Co-Opted Members and church and 

parent governor representatives to observe the Members’ Code 
of Conduct; 

 

Page 51



(d)  monitor and review the complaints made under the Members 
Code of Conduct; including the operation of the Members’ Code 
of Conduct; 

 
(e)  advise, train or arrange to train Members, Co-Opted Members 

and church and parent governor representatives on matters 
relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

 
(f)  establish, amend or revise arrangements under which 

allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the Council 
has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members can be investigated (which shall 
include but not limited to developing and adopting procedures 
and protocols and authorising the Council’s Monitoring Officer to 
make such changes to the arrangements as are considered 
necessary for the effective and timely investigation of 
allegations. 

 
(g)  establish, amend or revise arrangements under which decisions 

on allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the 
Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct can be made (which shall include 
but not limited to developing and adopting procedures and 
protocols and authorising the Council’s Monitoring Officer to 
make such changes to the arrangements as are considered 
necessary for effective and timely decision making. 

 
(h)  support the Monitoring Officer in the exercise of that Officer’s 

ethical standards functions, in particular the duty to establish 
and maintain registers of interests for the Council. 

 
(j)  in relation to Members or Co-Opted Members or church and/or 

parent governor representatives with pecuniary interests, 
putting in place arrangements to grant dispensations, in 
appropriate cases, from the restrictions on speaking and/or 
voting.  

 
(j)  to exercise all other functions of the Council in relation to ethical 

standards, in particular those under Chapter 7 of the Localism 
Act 2011. 

 
(k)  monitoring and reviewing as necessary the operation of whistle-

blowing procedures; 
 
(l)  considering reports arising from external inspections, audit 

investigations, Ombudsman investigations where 
maladministration is found, legal challenges and other sources 
which cast doubt on the honesty or integrity of the Council or its 
Members; 

 

Page 52



(m)  to consider and make recommendations on such other matters 
as the Committee itself thinks appropriate or which are referred 
to it by Council, which further the aim of promoting and 
maintaining the highest standards of conduct within the Council; 

 
(n)  approve the payment of compensation involving sums in excess 

of £5,000 (or less, if considered appropriate) to settle 
complaints of maladministration. 

 
(o)  establishing such sub-committees and/or panel as are required 

to discharge its role and the functions as set out in these Terms 
of Reference;- 

 
 (p) To keep the councils constitutional arrangements under review 

and to make such recommendations to the council as it 
considers appropriate for ways in which it should be amended in 
order better to achieve the purposes set out in Article 1, (set out 
below at paragraph 2.23). 

 
 (q) To oversee and agree such minor and consequential changes to 

the councils constitutional arrangements as are recommended 
by the Monitoring officer from time to time. 

 
10.0 Establishment of Panels 
 
(a)  The Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee will establish a: 
 
Standards Panel; and a 
 
Standards Appeals Panel 
 
Terms of Reference of the Standards Panel   

 
1. The Standards Panel will: 
  

(a) Consider only those allegations that an elected or co-opted Member 
of the Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members that are specified in the 
arrangements established under paragraph 9.3(f) above. 

 
(b) Consider and take into account the views of at least one 

independent person before making a decision on an allegation 
(falling within its remit) that the Members’ Code of Conduct has 
been breached. 

 
(b) The Standards Panel after consideration of a complaint may 

(pursuant to paragraph 9.3(g) above):- 
 

(i) ask for additional information on the allegation before 
reaching a decision; 

Page 53



 
(ii) determine that no action should be taken in respect of the 

allegation(s) made; 
 
(i) determine that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been 

proved to have been breached;   
 
(c) Where the Standards Panel determines that the Members’ Code of 

Conduct has been breached, it may: 
 
(i) instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning 

letter to the Member reminding him/her of the need to 
comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct; and/or 

 
(ii) require the Member(s) to apologise to the complainant 

(whether verbally or in writing) for breaching the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. Should the Member in 
question fail or refuse to do so promptly, the Monitoring 
Officer shall report this fact to the Member’s Political 
Group Leader*; and/or 

 
(iii) report the Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the 

Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee for 
reference/consideration; and/or 

 
(iv) recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that 

disciplinary action should be taken against the Member in 
question and/or that he/she be removed from all (or 
some) outside bodies to which the Member has been 
appointed; and/or 

 
(v) instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the 

Member in question who shall be required to attend. 
Should the Member fail to attend the training arranged, 
the Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the 
Member’s Political Group Leader*. 

 
* In the event that the Member in question is the Political Group Leader, the 
recommendation shall be referred to the relevant Deputy Political Group 
Leader; in the event that the Members in question are both the Political Group 
Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the recommendation shall be 
referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group 
Official/Spokesperson.  
 

(d) Where the Standards Panel determines that the Members’ Code 
of Conduct has NOT been breached, it may: 

 
(i) recommend, subject to the agreement of the Member 

against whom the allegation(s) has been made, that a 
Council media statement be issued upon the Council’s 

Page 54



website detailing the nature and outcome of the 
investigation into the allegations made and the decision 
of the Panel. 

 
(ii) subject to the agreement of the Member against whom 

the allegation(s) has been made, report the Panel’s 
decision to a public meeting of the Standards and 
Constitutional Oversight Committee; 

 
(e) The Standards Panel shall also consider under Sections 1 and 2 

of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989: - 
 

(a)  any application received from any officer of the Council 
for exemption from political restriction in respect of the 
post held by that officer and may direct the Council that 
the post shall not be considered to be a politically 
restricted post and that the post be removed from the list 
maintained by the Council under Section 2(2) of that Act; 
and  

 
b) upon the application of any person or otherwise, consider 

whether a post should be included in the list maintained 
by the Council under Section 2(2) of the 1989 Act, and 
may direct the Council to include a post in that list. 

 
6. Composition 
 

The Standards Panel shall comprise of 3 Members (one Member from 
each of the three main political parties) who shall be members of the 
Council’s Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee (unless 
an Alternate Member is nominated (see below)). 
 
The spokesperson for each political group may nominate an ‘Alternate 
Member’ from his/her political group to sit on a Standards Panel, 
providing that the Member nominated has undertaken the requisite 
training on the Members’ Code of Conduct (and any other training 
required by the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee). 
 
No Member shall sit on the Standards Panel where he/she has a 
conflict of interest. 

 
 
7. Chair 

 
The Chair shall be appointed by the Standards Panel at each meeting.  

 
Where the Standards Panel is considering an allegation of a breach of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Chair shall not be a Member of the 
same political party of the Member against whom the allegation(s) have 
been made.  

Page 55



 
8. Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Panel shall be the 3 
Members that make up its composition.   
 

9.  Frequency of Meetings - The Standards Panel will only meet when 
required to undertake its role and discharge its functions as set out in 
these Terms of Reference. 

 
10. Access to Information – Where the Standards Panel is considering 

allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the Council has 
failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members under 1 (a) above, the matter shall be exempt 
from disclosure under paragraph 7C of the Council Access to 
Information Procedure Rules unless the Standards Panel at its meeting 
considers that the public interest in lifting the exemption outweighs 
maintaining the continued application of the exemption. 

 
 
B. Terms of Reference of the Standards Appeal Panel 
 
1. Where a complainant or Member or Co-opted Member is dissatisfied 

with the determination of a complaint by the Standards Panel, the 
Standards Appeal Panel will convene to re-consider the complaint 
providing that: 

 
a. A request for permission to appeal is first made in writing, 

within 14 days of receipt of the Standards Panel’s Decision 
Notice, to the Monitoring Officer which details the procedural, 
legal and/or evidential issues relied upon in support of the 
request for permission; and 

 
b. The Monitoring Officer being satisfied, having considered the 

views of the independent person, that (i) the request for 
permission raises valid procedural, legal and/or evidential 
issues and matters not previously considered by the 
Standards Panel, and/or that (ii) it is reasonable and 
equitable in all the circumstances of the case that permission 
to appeal be granted. 

 
2. Where the Standards Appeal Panel has been convened pursuant to 

paragraph 1 above, the Standards Appeal Panel shall: 
 

i. Consider the complaint/allegations that an elected or co-
opted Member of the Council has failed, or may have failed, 
to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
ii. Consider and take into account the views of at least one 

independent person before making a decision on an 

Page 56



allegation (falling within its remit) that the Members’ Code of 
Conduct has been breached. 

 
3. (a) The Standards Appeal Panel after consideration of a complaint may 

(pursuant to paragraph 9.3(g) above:- 
 

(i) ask for additional information on the allegation before 
reaching a decision; 

 
(ii) determine that no action should be taken in respect of the 

allegation(s) made; 
 
(ii) determine that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been 

proved to have been breached;   
 
(b) Where the Standards Appeal Panel determines that the Members’ 

Code of Conduct has been breached, it may: 
 

(i) instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning 
letter to the Member reminding him/her of the need to 
comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct; and/or 

 
(ii) require the Member(s) to apologise to the complainant 

(whether verbally or in writing) for breaching the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. Should the Member in 
question fail or refuse to do so promptly, the Monitoring 
Officer shall report this fact to the Member’s Political 
Group Leader*; and/or 

 
(iii) report the Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the 

Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee for 
reference/consideration; and/or 

 
(iv) recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that 

disciplinary action should be taken against the Member in 
question and/or that he/she be removed from all (or 
some) outside bodies to which the Member has been 
appointed; and/or 

 
(v) instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the 

Member in question who shall be required to attend. 
Should the Member fail to attend the training arranged, 
the Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the 
Member’s Political Group Leader*. 

 
* In the event that the Member in question is the Political Group Leader, the 
recommendation shall be referred to the relevant Deputy Political Group 
Leader; in the event that the Members in question are both the Political Group 
Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the recommendation shall be 

Page 57



referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group 
Official/Spokesperson.  
 

(c) Where the Standards Appeal Panel determines that the Members’ 
Code of Conduct has NOT been breached, it may: 

 
(iii) recommend, subject to the agreement of the Member 

against whom the allegation(s) has been made, a Council 
press release be issued detailing the nature and outcome 
of the investigation into the allegations and the decision 
of the Panel. 

 
(iv) subject to the agreement of the Member against whom 

the allegation(s) has been made, report the Panel’s 
decision to a public meeting of the Council and/or the 
Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee; 

 
 
4. Composition   

 
The Standards Appeal Panel shall comprise of 3 Members (one 
Member from each of the three main political parties) who shall be 
members of the Council’s Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee (unless an Alternate Member is nominated (see below)). 
 
The spokesperson for each political group may nominate an ‘Alternate 
Member’ from his/her political group to sit on a Standards Appeal 
Panel, providing that the Member nominated has undertaken the 
requisite training on the Members’ Code of Conduct (and any other 
training required by the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee). 
 
No Member shall sit on (or otherwise attend, engage or interfere with) 
the Standards Appeal Panel where he/she has a conflict of interest.  
 

5. Chairperson – The Chairperson shall be appointed by the Standards 
Appeal Panel at each meeting. Where the Standards Appeal Panel is 
considering an allegation of a breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, the Chairperson shall not be a member of the same political 
party of the Member against whom the allegation(s) have been made.  
 

7. Quorum  
The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Panel shall be the 3 
Members that make up its composition.   

 
9.  Frequency of Meetings - The Standards Appeal Panel will only meet 

when required to undertake its role and discharge its functions as set 
out in these Terms of Reference. 

 

Page 58



10. Access to Information – Where the Standards Appeal Panel is 
considering allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the 
Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members under 1 (a) above, the matter shall be 
exempt from disclosure under paragraph 7C of the Council Access to 
Information Procedure Rules unless the Standards Panel at its meeting 
considers that the public interest in lifting the exemption outweighs 
maintaining the continued application of the exemption.. 
 

 
 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 6 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

 

Localism Act 2011 and the Standards Regime 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. Localism Act 2011 

1.1 The main elements of the new Council standards regime are contained within 
Chapter 7 and Schedule 4 of the Localism Act.  

 
1.1 The intention is that the new standards regime will be more cost effective, efficient, 

less formal, less time consuming and more proportionate. 
 
1.2 One significant change made by the Localism Act will be the abolition of Standards 

for England, which ceased to exist after 31 March 2012.  
 
1.3 The changes to the standards regime came into force on 1 July 2012. 
 
 
LOCALISM ACT: THE STANDARDS REGIME 

 
2.   New Duty and Arrangements  

 
2.1 The Council, under Section 27(1) of the Localism Act, “must promote and maintain 

high standards conduct by Member and Co-opted Members” of the Council. 
 
2.2 In discharging the duty mentioned in paragraph 2.1 above, the Council must adopt 

a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of Members and Co-opted 
Members of the Council when they are acting in that capacity.1 

 
2.3 The Council must also have in place arrangements under which: 
 

a. allegations can be investigated, and 
 
b. decisions on allegations can be made.2 

 
2.4 Independent Person: The arrangements referred to above, must include provision 

for the appointment by the Council of at least one independent person – 
 

a. whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the Council 
before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to 
investigate; and 

 
                                                 
1 Section 27(2) Localism Act 2011 
2 Section 28(6) Localism Act 2011 

Page 61



b. whose view may be sought – 
 

i) by the Council in relation to allegations that are not 
subject to investigation; and 

 
ii) by a Member/Co-opted Member of the Council if the 

person’s behaviour is subject to an allegation. 
 
2.5  A person cannot be an Independent Person for the purposes of the Localism Act if 

at any time during the 5 years ending with the appointment, the person was: 
 

i) a Member/Co-opted Member or officer of the Council; or 
 
ii)  a relative or close friend of anyone mentioned in i) 

above.3  
 

2.6 The appointment of a Independent Person(s) must be by public advert, an 
application process being adopted and the appointment by a majority of the 
Members of the Council. 

 
3. The Code of Conduct 
 
3.1 The Council must ensure that the Member Code of Conduct, when viewed as a 

whole, deals with the conduct that is expected of Members and Co-opted Members 
of the Council when they are acting in that capacity” (“the Member Code of 
Conduct”). 

 
3.2 The Council is permitted to either revise its existing Members’ Code of Conduct or 

adopt a new code of conduct as a replacement. 
 
3.3 The Localism Act requires the Member Code of Conduct to be consistent with the 

following principles4: 
 

•  Selflessness; 
•  Integrity; 
•  Objectivity; 
•  Accountability; 
•  Openness; 
•  Honesty; and 
•  Leadership. 

 
3.4 The Localism Act further requires the new Member Code of Conduct to include 

the arrangements the Council considers appropriate with regards the registration 
and disclosure of – 

 
•  pecuniary interests; and 
•  interests other than pecuniary interests.5 

                                                 
3 Section 28(8) Localism Act 2011 
4 Section 28(1) Localism Act 2011 
5 Section 28(2) Localism Act 2011 

Page 62



 
4. Disclosure and Registration of Members Interests 
 
4.1 Members and Co-opted Members of the Council have a legal obligation6 to notify 

the Council’s Monitoring Officer of any “disclosable pecuniary interest” for the 
purposes of inclusion within the register of Interests.  

 
4.2 “Disclosable pecuniary interest”: This is defined under Section 30(3) Localism Act 

and includes: 
 

a. an interest of the Member/Co-opted Member; or 
 
b. an interest of: 

 
i. the Member’s/Co-opted Member’s spouse or civil partner; 
ii. a person with whom the Member/Co-opted Member is 

living as husband and wife; or 
iii. a person with whom the Member/Co-opted Member is 

living as if they were civil partners. 
 
and the Member/Co-opted Member is aware that other person has 
the interest. 

  
4.3 Notification Period: A new (or re-elected) Member of the Council must notify the 

Monitoring Officer of any “disclosable pecuniary interest” (or any unregistered 
“disclosable pecuniary interest” if the case of a re-elected Member) before the end 
of 28 days beginning with the day on which the persons becomes a Member/Co-
opted Member of the Council. 

 
5.  Register of Interests 
 
5.1 The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to establish and maintain a register of 

interests of the Members and Co-opted Members of Council. 
 
5.2 Where an interest is disclosed by a Member/Co-opted Member, the Monitoring 

Officer must record that interest (irrespective of whether it is a “disclosable 
pecuniary interest”) in the register of interests. 

 
5.3 The Register of Interests must be available for inspection and must be published on 

the Council’s website. 
 
6.  Disclosing interests at Council meetings 
 
6.1 Unless otherwise registered in the register of interests (as referred to above), a 

Member/Co-opted Member attending a Council meeting (i.e. meeting of the 
Council, or any committee, sub-committee, joint committee or sub-joint committee 
of the Council), must disclose that “disclosable pecuniary interest(s)” to the 
meeting. 

 

                                                 
6 Section 30(1) Localism Act 2011 

Page 63



6.2 A Member/Co-opted Member does not have to disclose the nature of the 
disclosable pecuniary interest if it is sensitive. A sensitive disclosable pecuniary 
interest is one which if disclosed could lead to the Member/Co-opted Member or a 
person connected with him/her, being subjected to violence or intimidation.7  

 
6.3 Where an unregistered disclosable pecuniary interest is disclosed at a meeting, the 

relevant Member/Co-opted Member must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of the date of the meeting in question. 

  
6.4 Participation at Meetings: Where a Member/Co-opted Member discloses an 

unregistered disclosable pecuniary interest (whether it be sensitive or not) at a 
Council meeting (as described at paragraph 6.1 above), then the Member/Co-opted 
Member must not: 

 
i. participate or further participate in any discussion of the matter at the 

Council meeting; 
 
ii.  participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the 

Council meeting.     
 

 (Unless otherwise granted a dispensation by the Council). 
 
7. Failure to disclose Interests/Sanctions 
 
7.1 A person commits an offence if, without reasonable excuse, he/she fails to register 

or disclose a “disclosable pecuniary interest” as required or knowingly or recklessly 
provides information in relation to a “disclosable pecuniary interest” that is false or 
misleading.8 

 
7.2 A person who commits an offence, as outlined in paragraph 7.1, shall upon 

summary conviction be liable to a fine not exceeding £5,000.00 and may be 
disqualified for a period not exceeding 5 years from being or becoming a Member 
or Co-opted Member of a Council. 

 
7.3 The Localism Act removes the power of the Council to suspend a person being 

Member/Co-opted Member. 
 
7.4 Any criminal proceedings shall be brought by or on behalf of the Director of Public 

Prosecutions and may be brought within 12 months of the date evidence existed 
that was both in the knowledge and to the opinion of the prosecutor, sufficient to 
warranted proceedings. There is however a three year limitation period that applies 
to all conduct.  

 
8. ‘Standards Committee’ 
 
8.1 There is no specific requirement under the Localism Act to retain the Council’s 

Standards Committee. However, the Council has established the Standards and 
Constitutional Oversight Committee which is required to: 

 

                                                 
7 Section 32 Localism Act 
8 Section 34 Localism Act 2011 

Page 64



a. Assist the Council discharge its duty to promote and maintain high 
standards conduct by Member and Co-opted Members of the Council; 
and 

 
b. Ensure appropriate and effective arrangements are in place to: 

 
i. Investigate allegations into conduct; 
ii. Make decisions in relation to allegations against conduct; 
iii. Monitor standards issues and matters;  
iv. Deal with requests for dispensations; 
v. Consider and approve training; and 
vi. Evaluate and assess applications received for the position 

of Independent Person. 
 

 
 
 
 
Surjit Tour  
Head of Legal & Member Services            
 
 
9 July 2013 

Page 65



Page 66

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 
Standards and Constitution Oversight Committee 

Working Group 
 

Terms of Reference 
 
Scope and Remit 
 
To review, examine and explore the ethical framework, including such options, 
procedures, arrangements considered necessary to enable the Council discharge its 
duties and obligations arising under the Localism Act 2011 in relation to promoting and 
maintaining high standards of Member conduct. 
 
In particular, to: 
 

1.  Review the Council’s existing ethical framework relating to Members’ 
conduct; 

 
2.  Evaluate and examine the terms of reference of the Council’s Standards 

Committee and its Panels; 
 

3.  Review and revise the Members’ Code of Conduct (as appropriate); 
 
5.  Review the current Register of Interests to consider its effectiveness; 
 
6.  Review the arrangements and procedures set out in the Protocol for 

dealing with complaints; 
 

7.  Consider and review arrangements for dispensations; 
 
8.  Consider Member/Co-opted Member training needs; 
 
10. Consider and undertake any other actions, steps or measures considered 

necessary/important to assist the Council promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by Members. 

 
The Working Group shall make recommendations to the Council’s Standards and 
Constitution Oversight Committee is relation to the matters and issues mentioned above. 
 
Membership 
 
The Working Group shall consist of: 
 

• The Chairperson of the Committee; 
• Two Members from the Labour Group; 
• Two Members from the Conservative Group; 
• One Member from the Liberal Democrat Group; and 
• At least one of the Independent Persons (none voting). 

 
 

Page 67



Any Member of the Working Group is entitled to nominate a deputy to attend meetings of 
the Working Group on his/her behalf providing the nominee is a Member of the Council’s 
Standards and Constitution Oversight Committee. 
 
Meetings 
 
The Working Group shall meet as frequently as considered necessary. 
 
The meeting shall be chaired by the Standards and Constitution Oversight Committee 
chairperson.  
 
Meetings shall be quorate providing the Chair (or his/her deputy) and at least one 
eligible Member from at least two of the political parties are in attendance. 
 
Meetings of the Working Group shall be held in private and the provisions relating to 
Access to Information shall not apply. 
 
 
Decision Making 
 
The Working Group shall only be permitted to make recommendations to the Council’s 
Standards and Constitution Oversight Committee in relation to matters falling within its 
scope and remit. 
 
 
Administration 
 
The Working Group shall be administered and supported by officers from the Council’s 
Legal & Member Services Section. 

Page 68



 1

Appendix 8 
SUMMARY OF CURRENT STANDARDS COMMITTEE COMPLAINTS – 1 July 2013 to 9 July 2013 

 
 

 
Case Ref 

 

 
Nature of Complaint 

 
Current Status 

 

 
Next Stage 

 
Anticipated Date 
for Conclusion 

 
Standards2012/01 

 
(Received 16 Oct 
2012)  

 
 
 
 

 
Conflict of Interest  
 
Failed to treat others with respect 
 
Conduct inconsistent with the duty 
to promote and maintain high 
standards 
 

 
Closed – 1 Feb 2013 
 
Delay due to complainant not 
providing information as 
requested. 
 
No Further Action following 
preliminary evaluation and 
assessment by Monitoring Officer  
 

 
n/a 

 
n/a 

 
Standards2013/01 

 
(Received 18 Jan 
2013) 

 

 
Failed to treat others with respect 
 
Conduct inconsistent with the duty 
to promote and maintain high 
standards 
 
Disclosed information given in 
confidence 
 

 
Closed – 19 April 2013 
 
No breach of the Code. 
 
However, Monitoring Officer 
considered it appropriate to issue 
an informal warning issued and 
require a remedial step 
(alternative  
action) to be undertaken to 
address a particular issue. The 
step was undertaken by the 
Member in question. 
 

 
n/a 

 
n/a 

     

P
age 69



 2

Standards2013/02 
 

(Received 17 May 
2013) 

 

Failed to treat others with respect 
 
 

Monitoring Officer undertaking 
preliminary assessment and 
evaluation. 
 
Meetings with Independent 
Persons and Group Leaders now 
complete. 
 

Further enquiries 
required to be 
undertaken by 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Monitoring Officer to 
determine most 
appropriate option to 
deal with/progress 
the complaint. 
 
 

Decision on how to 
progress complaint 
to be made by 26 
July 2013. 
 

 
Standards2013/03 
 
(Received 28 April 
2013) 

 
Conflict of Interest  
 
Conduct inconsistent with the duty 
to promote and maintain high 
standards 
 
 

 
Closed 
 
No Further Action following 
preliminary evaluation and 
assessment by Monitoring Officer  
 

 
n/a 

 
n/a 

 
Standards2013/04 
 
(Received 3 April 
2013) 

 
Failed to treat others with respect 
 
Conduct inconsistent with the duty 
to promote and maintain high 
standards 
 

 
Monitoring Officer undertaking 
preliminary assessment and 
evaluation. 
 
Meetings with Independent 
Persons and Group Leaders now 
complete. 
 

 
Monitoring Officer to 
determine most 
appropriate option to 
deal with/progress 
the complaint. 
 

 
Decision on how to 
progress complaint 
to be made by 26 
July 2013. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 70



17 
CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 
WDA/22/13 
 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

That: 
 

1. a Code of Conduct for Members be adopted; 
 

2. delegated powers of the Authority be granted to the Monitoring Officer to 
consult with the constituent councils and agree an appropriate mechanism 
for dealing with complaints at a local level; and 
 

3. the Authority lobby the Government to have joint waste disposal authorities 
included as a relevant authority for the purposes of the Localism Act 2011. 

Page 71



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

Page 72



17 
  
  

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 
WDA/22/13 
 

Report of the Chief Executive 
 

1. Purpose of the Report 

1.1 This report advises Members of the changes brought about by the 
Localism Act 2011 and specifically its impact on this Authority in relation to 
promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct for its Members.  
The report seeks Members’ approval to a number of recommendations 
that would strengthen the Authority’s arrangements.  

2. Background 

2.1 The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) imposed new duties on local authorities 
and as a result, the Standards for England was abolished in April 2012. 
The remaining elements of the previous Standards regime were revoked 
on 1 July 2012. 

2.2 In place of those requirements, relevant authorities have the following 
duties: 

(i) Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by elected 
and co-opted members. 

(ii)  Duty to adopt a Code of Conduct based on Lord Nolan’s Seven 
Principles of Public Life. 

(iii)  Duty for the local authority to require registration and for members to 
register disclosable pecuniary interests and such other interests as 
the local authority may determine. 

(iv)  Duty to have arrangements in place to investigate allegations and to 
reach decisions in relation to allegations. 

(v)  Duty to appoint at least one independent person whose views must 
be sought before a decision is reached regarding an allegation of 
breach of the code. 

Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority 
28th June 2013 

Page 73



2.3 For the purposes of the Act, the constituent councils in Merseyside are 
relevant authorities however the Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority is 
not. 

2.4 In view of this, the arrangements in place at this Authority have been 
reviewed. 

3. Review of Arrangements 

3.1 Prior to the enactment of the Localism Act 2011, this Authority relied upon 
the Codes of Conduct for Members in place at each of its constituent 
councils for promoting and maintaining standards of conduct.   

3.2 This arrangement worked well as all constituent councils had adopted the 
model Code of Conduct which expressly referred to Members conduct 
when appointed to outside bodies such as this Authority 

3.3 In response to the Act, constituent councils have reviewed and revised 
their own arrangements and this review has considered the impact of 
those changes on the Authority.  Having sought legal advice and following 
consultation with the  councils, the following issues have been identified: 

3.1.1 The degree to which the current Codes of Conduct apply to 
councillors when acting in their capacity as a Member of this 
Authority is open to interpretation.  For example, with the 
exception of Liverpool City Council, the Codes refer only to 
Members’ conduct at their own council meetings and would not 
necessarily or obviously apply to MWDA meetings.  

3.1.2 For the purposes of the Act, this Authority is not a ‘relevant 
authority,’ and therefore there is no obligation to adopt a Code of 
Conduct and the criminal offences defined by the Act do not 
apply.    

3.1.3 It is also worth noting that in the list of Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests set out in the regulations, specific reference is made to 
interests being in ‘the area of the relevant Authority.’  In effect, 
this means there is no existing requirement in constituent council 
Codes to disclose interests where a Member is on a board with 
wider boundaries, i.e. Merseyside.   

3.4 Given the above issues it is apparent that a weakness now exists in the 
Authority’s arrangements and having met with each of the Monitoring 

Page 74



17 
Officers for the five constituent councils, the following proposals for 
strengthening arrangements are being proposed: 

• MWDA to establish its own Code of Conduct for Members, a draft of 
which is attached at Appendix 1.  The Authority is not obliged to 
adopt such a Code however, if agreed, Members will be required to 
comply with the Code and sanctions for non-compliance will be 
determined by their own District procedures.. 
 

• Where appropriate, that constituent councils be asked to review their 
Codes of Conduct with a view to incorporating some reference to 
Members' conduct when acting in a role on an outside body.  The 
wording in Liverpool's Code of Conduct could be suffice as it 
includes within its scope: "When you act as a representative of your 
authority (a) on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for 
that other authority, comply with that authority's code of conduct; or 
(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, 
comply with your authority's code of conduct, except and insofar as it 
conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that other body 
may be subject." 

 
• Subject to this Authority's approval of its own Code, that constituent 

councils be asked to attach it as an Annex to their own Codes of 
Conduct and that the Authority adopts a procedure (attached at 
Appendix 2) which allows for close collaboration should a complaint 
arise.  The procedure acknowledges that MWDA does not have its 
own political party structures and therefore the Monitoring Officer's 
role would be to assess the complaint and gather appropriate 
evidence before liaising with the relevant Monitoring Officer for the 
constituent council to use their own local procedures and political 
structures to consider and implement any sanctions or disciplinary 
action. 
 

• MWDA to lobby central government to include joint waste disposal 
authorities as a relevant authority for the purposes of the Localism 
Act.    
 

3.5 Clearly a number of the proposals outlined above will require action and 
co-operation from each of the councils and preliminary consultation with 
constituent council monitoring officers has received a positive response , 
however, it remains within the Authority’s remit to put in place its own 

Page 75



Code of Conduct for Members and this report seeks approval to adopt 
such a Code. 

4. Draft Code of Conduct for Members 

4.1 The Code of Conduct for Members attached at Appendix 1 has been 
drafted as if the MWDA was a ‘relevant authority,’ and is consistent with 
the Nolan principles of selflessness; integrity; objectivity; accountability; 
openness; honesty and leadership. 

4.2 The Code includes the list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests defined in the 
regulations and the following wording has been added to clarify the 
position with regard to the reference to a relevant authority:  

“Whilst Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority is not listed as a “Relevant 
Authority” in the above act, the following list of Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests should be treated as if it were for the purposes of this Code.” 

4.3 In reviewing the arrangements, Members will be aware that a 
representative of Halton Borough Council has been appointed to the 
MWDA board.  It should be noted however that this Member does not have 
voting rights and therefore the arrangements currently in place, i.e. the 
Members’ own Code of Conduct and the Authority’s Procedural Rules 
should be sufficient in this instance.   

4.4 In establishing a Code of Conduct for Members, it is recognised that this 
Authority does not have its own political party structures; and therefore the 
sanctions; that might be available to Members at their constituent council.  
For this reason, the Monitoring Officer is in the process of consulting with 
the constituent councils to establish a procedure to allow collaboration 
should a complaint arise. 

4.5 The draft procedure is attached at Appendix 2 and Members are asked to 
delegate powers of the Authority to the Monitoring Officer to finalise the 
procedure following the outcome of that consultation. 

5. Register of Interests 

5.1 Should Members be minded to approve the Code of Conduct attached at 
Appendix 1, the Monitoring Officer will be required to establish and 
maintain a register to record each Member’s disclosable pecuniary 
interests and any other interests as defined in the Code. 

5.2 The definition of disclosable pecuniary interests includes not only the 
pecuniary interests of the individual Member but also the pecuniary 

Page 76



17 
interests of the Member’s spouse or civil partner or someone with whom 
the Member is living with as if they were husband and wife or civil partners. 

5.3 In relation to the “other interests”, only the interests of the Member need to 
be registered. 

5.4 The draft Code does not propose the establishment of a register of gifts 
and hospitality, although it does provide that gifts worth in excess of £50 
should not be accepted. 

5.5 Members are required by the Code of Conduct to register their interests 
within 28 days of becoming a Member. Where a Member is re-appointed to 
the Authority, the Member is required to register any interests not already 
registered. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to a 
pecuniary interest which has not been registered, the Member must 
declare and then register that interest within 28 days of the matter arising. 

5.6 Subject to the Authority’s approval of the draft Code of Conduct, Members 
will be provided with forms to complete so that the new register can be 
compiled. Each year around the time of Authority’s AGM, further forms will 
be sent to Members to ask if they wish to update the Register. It is a 
matter for Members to determine if they wish to do so. 

6. Lobbying 

6.1 Whilst the Authority can implement its own voluntary arrangements with 
the support of the constituent councils, there remains an omission in the 
Localism Act 2011which prevents the Authority from having any legal 
recourse in the event of a breach. 

6.2 In order to rectify this issue and strengthen the Authority’s arrangements, it 
is proposed that the government be lobbied to amend the Act so that 
waste disposal authorities are included as a relevant authority.   

7. Risk Implications 

7.1 The following risks have been identified: 

Identified Risk Likelihood 
Rating 

Consequence 
Rating 

Risk 
Value 

Mitigation 

Failure to promote 
and maintain the 
conduct of Members 

1 5 5 Adopt a voluntary Code 
of Conduct for Members 
and lobby government 
for inclusion in Localism 
Act  

Page 77



Failure to maintain 
open and transparent 
decision-making 
processes. 

1 5 5 Implement and maintain 
a register of interests for 
Members 

 

8. HR Implications 

8.1 There are no HR implications associated with this report. 

9. Environmental Implications 

9.1 There are no environmental implications associated with this report. 

10. Financial Implications 

10.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

11. Conclusion 

11.1 Members are asked to note the Authority’s position with regards to the 
implications of the Localism Act 2011; to approve a voluntary Code of 
Conduct for Members; and to authorise the Monitoring Officer to lobby the 
government to include this Authority as a relevant authority for the 
purposes of the Act. 

The contact officer for this report is: Mandy Valentine 
7th Floor 
No 1 Mann Island 
Liverpool L3 1BP 
 
Email: mandy.valentine@merseysidewda.gov.uk 
Tel: 0151 255 2523 
Fax: 0151 227 1848 
 
The background documents to this report are open to inspection in accordance with 
Section 100D of The Local Government Act 1972 - Nil. 
 

Page 78



17 
APPENDIX 1 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 
 
The Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority (“the authority”) has adopted this Code of 
Conduct to promote and maintain high standards of conduct and underpin public 
confidence in the authority and its members. 
 
The Code has been adopted voluntarily and is based on the following core principles 
of public life - selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty 
and leadership. It sets out general obligations about the standards of conduct 
expected of members of the authority, together with provisions about registering and 
declaring interests. 
 
Interpretation 
 
In this Code:- 
 
“member” includes a co-opted member. 
 
“meeting” means any meeting of: 
 

(a) the Authority or any of its committees; 
(b) any briefing by officers; or 
(c) any site visit to do with business of the Authority 

 
whether or not the press and public are excluded from the meeting in question by 
virtue of a resolution of members. 
 
General obligations 
 
When acting in your role as a member of this authority you must act in accordance 
with the following obligations: 
 
Selflessness 
You must act solely in the public interest and must never use or attempt to use your 
position improperly to confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to 
gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, friends or close 
associates. 
 
Integrity 
You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 
individuals or organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of 
your official duties. 
 
You should exercise independent judgement. Although you may take account of the 
views of others (including a political group), you should reach your own conclusions 
on the issues before you and act in accordance with those conclusions. 
 
Objectivity 
When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as making 
public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for rewards or 

Page 79



benefits, on merit. 
 
You should remain objective, listen to the interests of all parties appropriately and 
impartially and take all relevant information, including advice from the authority’s 
officers, into consideration. 
 
Accountability 
You are accountable to the public for your decisions and you must co-operate fully 
with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office, including by local residents. 
 
Openness 
(a) You must be as open and transparent as possible about your decisions and 
actions and the decisions and actions of your authority. You should be prepared to 
give reasons for those decisions and actions. You must not prevent anyone getting 
information that they are entitled to by law. 
(b) Where the law or the wider public interest requires it, you must not disclose 
confidential information or information to which public access is restricted. 
 
Honesty 
(a) You must declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non-pecuniary, that 
relate to your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 
way that protects the public interest, including registering and declaring interests as 
set out below. 
 
(b) You must only use or authorise the use of the authority’s resources in 
accordance with the authority’s requirements. You must, when using or authorising 
the use by others of such resources, ensure that they are used for proper purposes 
only. Resources must not be used improperly for political purposes (including party 
political purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code 
of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986. 
 
Respect for others 
(a) You must treat others with respect. You should engage with colleagues and staff 
in a manner that underpins mutual respect, essential to good local government. 
(b) You must not do anything which may cause your authority to breach any equality 
laws. 
(c) You must not compromise or attempt to compromise the impartiality of anyone 
who works for, or on behalf of, the authority. 
(d) You must not bully any person, including other councillors, officers of the 
authority or members of the public. 
 
Leadership 
You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving as member 
or co-opted member of the authority, by leadership and example, championing the 
interests of the community. 
 
You should uphold the law and, on all occasions, act in accordance with the trust 
that the public is entitled to place in you. 
 
 

Page 80



17 
APPENDIX 1 

Registration of Interests 
 
You must within 28 days of: 
 
(a) this Code being adopted by this authority; or 
(b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later) 
 
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set 
out in Appendix A (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) and Appendix B (Other 
Disclosable Interests). 
 
You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days 
of becoming aware of any new interest in Appendix A or B, or of any change to a 
registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer of that new interest or change. 
 
Declaring of Interests and Participation in Meetings 
 
If you are present at a meeting and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest as set 
out in Appendix A 
 
(a)  you must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting and you 

must not vote on the matter; 
(b)  you must make a verbal declaration of that interest if an item of business affects 

or relates to that interest, at or before the item is considered or as soon as the 
interest becomes apparent; 

(c)  you must leave the room where the meeting is held during any discussion or 
vote; 

(d)  if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending notification, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days. 

 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix B 
 
(a)  you must not vote on the matter; 
(b)  you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are allowed to speak 

at the meeting; 
(c)  you must declare your interest if you speak on the matter at the meeting or if the 

interest is not already on your register of interests or if you have not notified the 
Monitoring Officer of it. Otherwise, you do not need to declare the interest at the 
meeting. 

 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to or is likely to affect any of the 
interests listed in Appendix A, but in respect of a member of your family (other than 
your spouse/partner) or a friend or close associate of yours 
 
(a)  you must declare the interest; 
(b)  you must not vote on the matter; 
(c)  you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are allowed to speak 

at the meeting. 
 
 

Page 81



Sensitive interests 
Where you consider that disclosure of the details of an interest could lead to you or a 
person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation and the 
Monitoring Officer agrees that it is a “sensitive interest”, you need only declare the 
fact that you have an interest but not the details of that interest. Copies of the public 
register of interests may state you have an interest the details of which are withheld. 
 
Gifts and Hospitality 
 
There will be no requirement for you to declare or register any gifts and hospitality 
but DO NOT accept any gifts in excess of £50 (fifty pounds). 
 

Page 82



17 
APPENDIX 1 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
This code requires members to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of 
any matter in which a member has a “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” as defined in 
Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are defined in 
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 
 
Whilst Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority is not listed as a “Relevant Authority” in 
the above act, the following list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests should be treated 
as if it were for the purposes of this Code.   
 
A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is an interest of you (i.e. the member) or of your 
partner (which means spouse or civil partner or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or as if you are civil partners) within the categories below*: 
 
Subject Prescribed description 

 
Employment, office, trade, profession 
or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the relevant 
authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by a Member of a relevant authority 
in carrying out duties as a Member, or 
towards the election expenses of a/the 
Member of the relevant authority. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the 
relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest*) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 
*this means a firm in which the relevant 
person is a partner or a body coporate of 
which the relevant person is a director, or in 
the securities of which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest 
 

Page 83



Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of the relevant authority*. 
 
*land excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not carry with it a right for the relevant 
person (alone or jointly with another) to 
occupy the land or to receive income. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the relevant 
Member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 
(a) that body (to the relevant Member’s 
knowledge) has a place of business or land 
in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 
 
*securities means shares, debentures, 
debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of 
a collective investment scheme within the 
meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with 
a building society. 

 
 
*The provisions in the Code in respect of the registration and declaring of Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests and the requirement to withdraw from participating in respect of any 
matter where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest apply to your interests and to those 
of your spouse or civil partner or a person with whom you are living as a spouse or civil 
partner where you are aware of their interest. 
 

Page 84



17 
APPENDIX 1 

 

APPENDIX B 
 
OTHER DISCLOSABLE INTERESTS 
 
An interest which relates to or is likely to affect: 
 
(i) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by this authority or your 
principal authority. 
 
(ii) any body 
 

(a)  exercising functions of a public nature; 
(b)  directed to charitable purposes; or 
(c)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union) 
 
of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management. 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



17 
APPENDIX 2 

 

Procedure for considering complaints alleging a failure to comply with a Members’ 
Code of Conduct for Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority 

Introduction 

1.   This procedure should be used to deal with complaints submitted in relation to 
the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Merseyside Waste Disposal 
Authority (the Authority). 

2.   The Members’ Code of Conduct applies to elected Members appointed to the 
Authority when they are acting in that capacity.  All complaints should be 
submitted to the Authority’s Monitoring Officer for consideration. 

3.   The Monitoring Officer may nominate another officer of suitable experience and 
seniority to carry out any of the functions listed in this procedure. 

Stage 1 – Initial assessment by the Monitoring Officer  

4.   Complaints must be submitted in writing, provide substantiated information and 
should outline what form of resolution the complainant is seeking. 

5.   The Monitoring Officer will consider the complaint and make a decision as to 
whether it will be treated as a valid complaint or not based on the criteria 
agreed by the Authority. 

6.   In all cases where the complainant names a Member of the Authority, the 
Member will be notified of the complaint as will the relevant Monitoring Officer 
for the Member’s principal authority.  If the Monitoring Officer decides that the 
complaint is ‘invalid,’ this notification is made for information only. 

7.  If the complaint relates to an elected member but not in their capacity as a 
Member of Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority, the complaint will be 
redirected to the relevant Monitoring Officer of the Member’s principal 
authority. 

8.   If the complaint relates to an employee or is a service related issue, the 
Monitoring Officer will redirect the complaint through to the Authority’s 
Comments and Complaints Procedure. 

9.   In any case where the Monitoring Officer decides that the complaint is ‘invalid,’ 
the complainant will be informed in writing why their complaint cannot be dealt 
with under this procedure.  There is no appeal process for decisions taken by the 
Monitoring Officer at this stage. 

Page 87



10.   The Monitoring Officer will report on such complaints received on an annual 
basis to the Authority where complaints have been received in the preceding 
year. 

 

Stage 2 – Complaint Resolution 

11.   Following initial assessment and information gathering, where the complaint is 
deemed to be valid, the Monitoring Officer will notify the relevant Monitoring 
Officer for the Member’s principal authority. 

12.   The complaint will then be dealt with under the principal authority’s own 
complaints procedures to seek resolution or use the sanctions available to that 
authority where a complaint is upheld.  Throughout, this Authority’s Monitoring 
Officer will provide all necessary evidence and assistance to facilitate the 
process. 

13.   The outcome and recommendations will be reported back to the Authority’s 
Monitoring Officer and subsequently the Authority at the conclusion of the 
matter.  

 

Page 88



17 
APPENDIX 2 

 

CRITERIA FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINTS 

(Guidance Note: Complainants will be required to complete the relevant 
complaints form and also asked to indicate what outcome they would wish to see in 
terms of the complaint being made). 

GENERAL CRITERIA – 

The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the relevant authority should be satisfied 
that the complaint meets the following tests: 

Question1: Has the complainant contacted the member concerned directly to try to 
resolve the matter? 

If the answer is no then was there a reason why not?  If yes then what was the 
response? 

Question 2:  Is it a complaint against a named member (or members) of Merseyside 
Waste Disposal Authority(MWDA)? 

If the answer is no then the complainant and subject member to be informed that 
no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint as the person is not a 
Member of the Authority. 

Question 3: Was the named member in office and the Code of Conduct in force at 
the time of the alleged misconduct but the named member is no longer a current 
elected member? 

In the above circumstances then the complainant and subject member to be 
informed that no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint as it would 
not be an effective use of limited resources to investigate an individual who is no 
longer an elected member. 

Question 4: Would the complaint, if proven, be a breach of the Code under which 
the member was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct? (note: it maybe 
a service provision issue or the complainant is merely dissatisfied with the outcome of 
a decision of the Authority) 

If the answer is no then the complainant and subject member to be informed that 
no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint as this is not a breach of 
the code of conduct. 

Question 5: Does the matter complained of clearly relate to an incident or issue 
when the member has been acting in his/her official capacity as a Member of 
Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority? 

Page 89



If the answer is no then the complainant and subject member to be informed that 
no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint as this is not a breach of 
the Authority’s Code of Conduct. 

Question 6: Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the 
Monitoring Officer that the complaint should be referred for investigation or other 
action; is it submitted in writing; and does it outline what form of resolution the 
complainant is seeking? 

Unless sufficient information has been received to make a decision as to whether the 
complaint should be referred for investigation or other action then the response to 
the complainant will be to that effect. The complainant and subject member to be 
advised that no further action is to taken on this complaint. 

(Note:  The Authority will ensure that the guidance for individuals making complaints 
is clear enough to ensure that they send through all relevant information that they 
wish to be considered in support of the complaint) 

Question 7: Is the member a member of another authority rather than MWDA? 

If it is a member of another authority, the complaint will be referred to the Monitoring 
Officer of that authority to consider. 

Question 8: Has the complaint already been the subject of an investigation or other 
action relating to the Code of Conduct?  Similarly, has the complaint been the 
subject of an investigation by other regulatory authorities/ police? 

If the answer is yes then unless significantly new information has been provided, the 
complainant will be informed that the matter of complaint has already been subject 
to a previous investigation or other action and there is nothing more to be gained by 
further action being taken. 

Question 9: Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago that there 
would be little benefit in taking action now? 

If the answer is yes then the complainant will be informed that the period of time 
that had elapsed since the alleged misconduct was taken into account when 
deciding whether or not it should be referred for investigation or further action. It was 
decided under the circumstances that further action was not warranted. 

Question 10: Is the complaint too trivial to warrant further action? 

If the answer is yes then the complainant will be informed that the matter was not 
considered to be sufficiently serious or an effective use of limited resources to 
warrant further action. 

Question 11: Does the complaint appear to be simply malicious, politically 
motivated or tit-for-tat? 

Page 90



17 
APPENDIX 2 

If the answer is yes then the complainant will be informed that the matter appeared 
to be simply malicious, politically motivated or tit-for-tat, and not sufficiently serious 
or an effective use of limited resources and therefore it was decided that further 
action was not warranted. 

Question 12: Does the complaint relate to the production of or a statement made 
on a political leaflet and personal blogs (private social networks) or at political 
meetings? 

If the answer is yes then the complainant will be informed that these are subject to 
the laws of defamation, public order, discrimination and electoral law and not a 
matter for the Authority and no further action to be taken unless the allegation 
relates to - 

• the Authority’s facilities or resources having been used to produce a political 
leaflet;  

• where there may be an impact on the reputation of the Authority or its 
constituent members; or 

• an allegation that confidential information obtained by a councillor in their 
capacity as a MWDA Member had been used and published to the public in 
a leaflet and/ or a social network which may then breach the code of 
conduct in respect of confidentiality. 

 

Question 13: Does the complaint appear to be a breach of criminal law? 

If the answer is yes then the complainant will be informed that it is a matter for the 
police and advised of whom to contact. 

Question 14: Is the complainant an officer of the Authority? 

If the answer is yes then the officer will be advised to speak to their direct line 
manager in the first instance to see if the matter can be resolved between the 
officer and member concerned using the existing internal structures and the 
Protocol on Member / Officer Relations. 

Question 15: Does the complaint relate to a failure to respond to constituent or 
another individual? 

If the answer is yes then the complainant will be advised that failure to respond to a 
request does not constitute a breach of the code. 

Question 16: Is the complaint anonymous? 

As a matter of fairness and natural justice, a member should usually be told who has 
complained about them subject to the considerations below.  If the complaint fails 
one or more of these tests then the complaint will not be progressed and the 

Page 91



complainant (where identified) and subject member must be informed that no 
further action will be taken in respect of the complaint. The Monitoring Officer will 
review these types of complaints and if appropriate give guidance to the 
complainant of other more appropriate courses of action. The Monitoring Officer will 
consult the Monitoring Officer for the Member’s principal authority in each instance 
to link with their local procedures. 

CONFIDENTIALITY OF COMPLAINANTS – OPTION FOR CONSIDERATION 

As a matter of fairness and natural justice, a member should usually be told who has 
complained about them. However, there may be instances where the complainant 
asks for their identity to be withheld. Such requests should only be granted in 
exceptional circumstances and at the discretion of the Monitoring Officer. The 
Monitoring Officer should consider the request for confidentiality alongside the 
substance of the complaint itself. 

Requests for confidentiality will be considered in the following circumstances: 

• The complainant has reasonable grounds for believing that they will be at risk 
of physical harm if their identity is disclosed. 

• The complainant is an officer who works closely with the subject member and 
they are afraid of the consequences to their employment or of losing their job 
if their identity is disclosed (this should be covered by the authority’s 
Whistleblowing Policy and/or the Protocol for Member / Officer Relations). 

• The complainant suffers from a serious health condition and there are 
medical risks associated with their identity being disclosed. (In such 
circumstances, the Monitoring Officer may wish to request medical evidence 
of the complainant’s condition.) 

In certain cases, such as allegations of bullying, revealing the identity of the 
complainant may be necessary for investigation of the complaint. 

If the Monitoring Officer decides to refuse a request by a complainant for 
confidentiality, it may be appropriate to offer the complainant the option to 
withdraw, rather than proceed and have their identity disclosed. 

  

Page 92


	Agenda
	2 MInutes
	3 Review and Update on the Council's Ethical Framework
	Review and Update Appendix 1
	Review and Update Appendix 2
	Review and Update Appendix 3
	Review and Update Appendix 4
	Review and Update Appendix 5
	Review and Update Appendix 6
	Review and Update Appendix 7
	Review and Update Appendix 8
	Review and Update Appendix 9 (1)
	Review and Update Appendix 9 (2)
	Review and Update Appendix 9 (3)


